RECEIVED

Nov 05 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jan 31 2023

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2022-000754

Case No. 2020-CP-2481

Stefani Eddins,

Appellant,

vs.

Tall Sam I Am, LLC d/b/a Tabbuli,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GARY C. JOHNSON, P.S.C.
Michael E. Liska
SC Bar No. 102542
2265 Executive Drive
P.O. Box 55106
Lexington, KY 40505
Tel: 859-268-4300
Fax: 859-268-7318
Email: mliska@garycjohnson.com

THE NYE LAW GROUP P.C.
Justin D. Maines
SC Bar No. 76668
2008 Whitaker Street
Savannah, Georgia 31401

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THE EVIDENCE GENERATED ONLY A SINGLE INFERENCE CONCERNING RESPONDENT’S NEGLIGENCE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Stefani Eddins filed the Complaint in this action on June 5, 2020. Respondent Tall Sam I Am, LLC d/b/a Tabbuli was served with the Complaint on June 9, 2020. Stefani Eddins brought this action for negligence seeking damages for injuries sustained in a July 20, 2017 incident at Tall Sam I Am, LLC d/b/a Tabbuli’s restaurant. Tall Sam I Am, LLC d/b/a Tabbuli served an Answer on June 26, 2020.

Tall Sam I Am, LLC d/b/a Tabbuli filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on March 21, 2022. Stefani Eddins served her Response to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment on April 20, 2022. Tall Sam I Am, LLC d/b/a Tabbuli also filed its Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment on April 20, 2022.

On April 21, 2022, the Honorable Bentley D. Price heard the parties’ arguments on Tall Sam I Am, LLC d/b/a Tabbuli’s Motion for Summary Judgment. The trial court’s Order granting Tall Sam I Am, LLC d/b/a Tabbuli’s Motion for Summary Judgment was filed May 24, 2022. Stefani Eddins filed and served her Notice of Appeal on June 1, 2022.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. Schmidt v. Courtney, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326 (Ct. App. 2003).

Rule 56(c), SCRPC provides that a trial court may grant a motion for summary judgment only “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving

party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRPC. “In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in that light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., 381 S.C. 329-30, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802 (2009). “At the summary judgment stage of litigation, the court does not weigh conflicting evidence with respect to a disputed material fact.” S.C. Prop. & Cas. Guar. Ass’n v. Yensen, 345 S.C. 512, 518, 548 S.E.2d 880, 883 (Ct. App. 2001). “[T]he court’s duty at this state is to presume the credibility of the evidence.” Abdelgheny v. Moody, 432 S.C. 346, 852 S.E.2d 225 (Ct. App. 2020). If a reasonable juror looking at the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-movant could draw more than one inference about a material fact from it, summary judgement must be denied. Thomasko v. Poole, 349 S.C. 7, 11, 561 S.E.2d 597, 599 (2002). This includes causation. Small v. Pioneer Mach., Inc., 329 S.C. 448, 464, 494 S.E.2d 835, 843 (Ct. App. 1997). “[T]he non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” Hancock, 381 S.C at 330, 673 S.E.2d at 803. “Since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment ‘should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.’” Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 337 (1990).

FACTS

This is a negligence action concerning: Respondent’s own duties to keep its premises safe for patrons, discover and eliminate risks, and not put patrons in harm’s way; Respondent’s breach of those duties on July 20, 2017; and the injuries and damages caused by Respondent’s breach. [Complaint, R. pp. 15-24.]

Respondent, via its Rule 30(b)(6) designee and Operations Manager, Jeff Deihl, testified that it had a duty to keep its premises safe [Deihl Depo., p. 66, lines 18-21, R. p. 250, lines 18-21],

discover and eliminate risks [Deihl Depo. pp. 58, lines 18-25, p.59, lines 1-10, R. p. 248, lines 18-25, R. p. 248, lines 1-10], and not put patrons in harms' way [Deihl Depo., p. 128, lines 23-25, p. 129, lines 1-2, R. p. 265, lines 23-25, R. p. 265, lines 1-2].

On the night of July 20, 2017, at 10:20 p.m., a temporary portable stage light fell on Appellant's head while a patron at Respondent's restaurant. [Complaint, R. p. 16; Incident Report, R. p. 396.] According to Respondent's manager, Cait Chapin, after investigating the incident that night, it was determined that the light fell because "[i]t was not secured properly." [Chapin Depo., p. 92, line 4, R. p. 228, line 4.] Plaintiff's expert, Mark E. Williams, AIA, NCARB, agrees, testifying "[i]t fell because it wasn't properly attached" [Williams Depo., p. 79, lines 3-4, R. p. 154, lines 3-4], and "[i]t fell because it was unstable." [Williams Depo., p. 44, line 12, R. p. 145, line 12.]

Respondent was holding its outdoor Thursday night fashion show, White Haute Nights, at the time. [Chapin Depo., pp. 11, line 3, p. 20, lines 12-14, R. p. 208, line 3, R. p. 210, lines 12-14.] The temporary portable stage light was to be used for lighting. [Chapin Depo., p. 23, lines 3-11, R. p. 211, lines 3-11.] The light was set on top of a speaker that was attached to a support column. [Williams Depo., pp. 35, lines 11-12, R. p. 143, lines 11-12]

Respondent had a duty to supervise the installation of the temporary portable stage light to make sure it was secure, which included the use of a bracket, bolt and an additional safety chain, regardless of who owned or installed the light. [Plaintiff's Expert Disclosures, R. pp. 44-64, Williams Depo., p. 15, lines 18-22, p. 27, lines 18-25, p. 28, lines 1-12, p. 35, lines 16-21, p. 43, lines 6-10, p. 44, lines 16-18, p. 84, lines 12-18, p. 86, lines 10-25, p. 89, lines 21-25, p. 90, lines 1-8, p. 111, lines 20-25, p. 112, lines 1-13, p. 115, lines 19-25, p. 116, lines 1-25, R. p. 135, lines 18-22, R. p. 141, lines 18-25, R. p. 141, lines 1-12, R. p. 143, lines 16-21, R. p. 145, lines 6-10,

R. p. 145, lines 16-18, R. p. 155, lines 12-18, R. p. 156, lines 10-25, R. p. 156, lines 21-25, R. p. 157, lines 1-8, R. p. 162, lines 20-25, R. p. 162, lines 1-13, R. p. 163, lines 19-25, R. p. 163, lines 1-25, Rivenbark Depo., p. 125, lines 7-12, R. p. 199, lines 7-12.] Respondent did not supervise the installation of the light. [Chapin Depo., pp. 60, lines 15-25, R. p. 220, lines 15-25.]

Respondent had a duty to keep the temporary portable stage light barriered from patrons after it was installed so it would not strike anyone on the head in case it did fall. [Plaintiff's Expert Disclosures, R. p. 44-64, Williams Depo., p. 15, lines 18-22, p. 27, lines 18-25, p. 28, lines 1-12, p. 35, lines 16-21, p. 43, lines 6-10, p. 44, lines 16-18, p. 84, lines 12-18, p. 86, lines 10-25, p. 89, lines 21-25, p. 90, lines 1-8, p. 111, lines 20-25, p. 112, lines 1-13, p. 115, lines 19-25, p. 116, lines 1-25, R. p. 135, lines 18-22, R. p. 141, lines 18-25, R. p. 141, lines 1-12, R. p. 143, lines 16-21, R. p. 145, lines 6-10, R. p. 145, lines 16-18, R. p. 155, lines 12-18, R. p. 156, lines 10-25, R. p. 156, lines 21-25, R. p. 157, lines 1-8, R. p. 162, lines 20-25, R. p. 162, lines 1-13, R. p. 163, lines 19-25, R. p. 163, lines 1-25, Rivenbark Depo., p. 125, lines 7-12, R. p. 199, lines 7-12.] “[T]hings that might impact that light such as noise, gravity, air, somebody contacting it, the music, the pivoting” are all “reasons why the light needs to be supervised when it’s installed and properly barriered from patrons, properly chained and properly secured.” [Williams Depo., p. 116, lines 12-25, R. p. 163, lines 12-25.]

In this case, Respondent arranged its floor and seating plan accordingly for the fashion show. [Chapin Depo., p. 19, lines 3-10, p. 23, lines 3-15, R. p. 210, lines 3-10, R. p. 211, lines 3-15.] Instead of keeping the light barriered from patrons, Respondent placed one of its seats under the temporary portable stage light. [Chapin Depo., p. 19, lines 3-10, p. 23, lines 3-15, R. p. 210, lines 3-10, R. p. 211, lines 3-15.] Respondent told Appellant to sit below the light in the seat it had placed under the light. [Eddins Depo., p. 20, lines 7-24, R. p. 291, lines 7-24.]

Respondent testified that when Respondent tells a patron where to sit, Respondent has a duty to make sure it is safe for that patron to sit there. [Deihl Depo., p. 128, lines 23-25, p. 129, lines 1-2, R. p. 265, lines 23-25, p. 265, lines 1-2.] Respondent did not inspect the light to make sure it was safe for patrons to sit below it before it sat Appellant under the light. [Chapin Depo., p. 62, lines 2-7, R. p. 221, lines 2-7.]

Thereafter, the show, with its noise and activity, started and the light fell on Appellant's head causing serious injuries. [Complaint, R. pp. 15-24; Eddins Depo., p. 21, lines 1-25, p. 33, lines 1-18, R. p. 292, lines 1-25, p. 304, lines 1-18, Haynes Depo., p. 14, lines 1-25, p. 19, lines 1-24, p. 20, lines 9-17, R. p. 367, lines 1-25, p. 372, lines 1-24, p. 373, lines 9-17.]

In response to a Rule 34 request for photographs of the light, Respondent produced only one photograph, which showed the light unsecured, upside down, without any safety chain, sitting on top of the speaker. [Photograph of Light, R. p. 398.] This photo must have been taken earlier on the day of the incident because Respondent claims a DJ brought the light onto the premises about 3:00 or 4:00 p.m., Respondent took the light out of service after it fell on Appellant's head, and the DJ took the light after the incident. [Chapin Depo., p. 73, lines 24-5, p. 74, lines 1-9, R. p. 223, lines 24-5, p. 224, lines 1-9, Deihl Depo., p. 77, lines 12-14, R. p. 252, lines 12-14; Williams Depo., p. 114, lines 15-24, p. 115, lines 7-18, R. p. 163, lines 15-24, p. 163, lines 7-18.] A photo taken that night of the seating area below the light where Respondent seated Appellant was also produced in discovery. [Photograph of Scene, R. p. 400.]

As further background, Respondent's manager, Cait Chapin, testified "Thursday nights were, our fashion show, White Haute Nights." [Chapin Depo., p. 20, lines 12-14, R. p. 210, lines 12-14.] Respondent would "arrange chairs and couches" "according to whatever event is taking place." [Chapin Depo., p. 19, lines 3-10, R. p. 210, lines 3-10.] If Respondent had a DJ, the DJ

would set up “according to our floor plan” over which Respondent had control. [Chapin Depo., pp. 23, lines 3-15, p. 24, lines 4-7, R. p. 211, lines 3-15, R. p. 211, lines 4-7.] The DJs “would arrive probably 4:00 p.m., maybe 3:00 p.m.” “and they would set up whatever they need set up.” [Chapin Depo., p. 37, lines 8-11, R. p. 214, lines 8-11.] “If Tabulli saw something with the setup that they did not like and told the DJ to not do that, the DJ would have to comply.” [Chapin Depo., p. 26, lines 12-16, R. p. 212, lines 12-16.] However, on July 20, 2017, nobody from Tabulli was monitoring the DJs and the light set up. [Chapin Depo., p. 60, lines 15-25, R. p. 220, lines 15-25.] “[O]ne of the duties [Respondent] had was making sure that anything that was a danger be taken care of.” [Chapin Depo., p. 30, lines 1-4, R. p. 213, lines 1-4.]

“Lighting [has] to be safe.” [Chapin Depo., p. 33, lines 11-13, R. p. 213, lines 11-13.] However, on July 20, 2017, “no one from Tabulli was monitoring the light setup.” [Chapin Depo., p. 60, lines 15-25, R. p. 220, lines 15-25.] “No one was standing there watching it being installed.” [Chapin Depo. p. 60, lines 15-25, R. p. 220, lines 15-25.] “No one from Tabulli checked for any safety hazards that might be presented by the hanging light setup.” [Chapin Depo., p. 61, lines 17-21, R. p. 220, lines 17-21.] “Nobody from Tabulli told the DJ not to put the light where it was” placed. [Chapin Depo., p. 61, lines 22-25, p. 62, line 1, R. p. 220, lines 22-25, R. p. 221, line 1.] More importantly, “nobody from Tabulli did a safety inspection with respect to the lighting to make sure lights were safe for the patrons before it fell on Ms. Eddin’s head.” [Chapin Depo., p. 62, lines 2-7, R. p. 221, lines 2-7.]

When Appellant got to the restaurant that night, she sat at a table to eat. [Eddins Depo., p. 20, lines 7-24, R. p. 291, lines 7-24.] Respondent’s server told Appellant she should stay for the White Haute Nights event. [Eddins Depo., p. 20, lines 7-24, R. p. 291, lines 7-24.] The server told Appellant to move closer to the stage, and then seated her under the light. [Eddins Depo., p. 20,

lines 7-24, R. p. 291, lines 7-24.] After the show started, at 10:20 p.m., with the crowd and music, the light fell and struck Appellant on the head causing serious injuries. [Incident Report, R. p. 396, Complaint, R. pp. 16-24; Eddins Depo., p. 21, lines 1-25, p. 33, lines 1-18, R. p. 292, lines 1-25, p. 304, lines 1-18, Haynes Depo., p. 14, lines 1-25, p. 19, lines 1-24, p. 20, lines 9-17, R. p. 367, lines 1-25, R. p. 372, lines 1-24, R. p. 373, lines 9-17.]

Respondent testified that it investigates incidents and keeps Incident Reports in case “we ever needed to go back and find out what happened on a particular day or a particular event” and “to help determine a root cause of what caused that incident.” [Deihl Depo., p. 94, lines 14-21, R. p. 257, lines 14-21.] Respondent investigates incidents because it wants “to see if it is something that [it] could have prevented and how do[es it] prevent it in the future.” [Deihl Depo., p. 120, lines 7-22, R. p. 263, lines 7-22.]

Respondent’s manager, Cait Chapin, testified that she investigated the incident and is the one who completed the Incident Report. [Incident Report, R. p. 396; Chapin Depo., p. 58, lines 5-14, R. p. 220, lines 5-14.] Ms. Chapin “went over to talk to whoever was setting up lighting where this happened,” “looked at what happened, how it had fallen [and] what we could have done to prevent it, why it happened.” [Chapin Depo., p. 58, lines 5-14, R. p. 220, lines 5-14.] Ms. Chapin stated “we all spoke about it together upon [Appellant’s] exiting” and then Ms. Chapin spoke to “corporate,” which had the video from that day, about what happened. [Chapin Depo., p. 68, lines 23-4, p. 69, lines 1-5, R. p. 222, lines 23-4, R. p. 222, lines 1-5.] After speaking with those involved and completing her official investigation of the incident, Ms. Chapin concluded that the light fell because “[i]t was not secured properly.” [Chapin Depo., p. 92, line 4, R. p. 228, line 4.]

After the incident, the manager told the “DJs to make sure that they are setting things up properly and things are secured and not setting things up over people and things like that.” [Chapin

Depo., p. 71, lines 1-4, R. p. 223, lines 1-4.] She looked at the light after it fell on Appellant and “[she] told everyone to make sure that things like this are secured, especially that are hanging overhead.” [Chapin Depo., p. 73, lines 13-17, R. p. 223, lines 13-17.] The manager testified that they took down the light after it was put back from where it fell because “they didn’t want that to happen again.” [Chapin Depo., p. 74, lines 1-7, R. p. 224, lines 1-7.]

The manager testified that Respondent and its employees have a duty to “obey safety rules and exercise caution and common sense,” and “report any potential accidents.” [Chapin Depo., p. 81, lines 1-16, R. p. 225, lines 1-16.] “You better be making sure that your t’s are crossed and your i’s are dotted in the restaurant because you want to make sure everyone is safe all around.” [Chapin Depo., p. 83, lines 17-21, R. p. 226, lines 17-21.] “Negligence that could lead to a safety violation or cause injuries to guests or employees [is] prohibited.” [Chapin Depo., p. 83, lines 22-25, p. 84, lines 1-4, R. p. 226, lines 22-25, R. p. 226, lines 1-4.] “Violation of any federal, state or local law or failure to follow prescribed rules or regulations, which could result in potential legal action” is also prohibited. [Chapin Depo., p. 84, lines 9-14, R. p. 226, lines 9-14.]

The manager testified that if staff told her there was a problem with one of the lights the DJs were using, “[she] would have gone out there and [she] would have investigated the entire situation. If [she] had known about this prior to this happening, [she] would have asked them to take it down or secure it somewhere that it couldn’t potentially hurt somebody.” [Chapin Depo., p. 90, lines 19-25, p. 91, lines 1-3, R. p. 228, lines 19-25, R. p. 228, lines 1-3.] Ms. Chapin testified that the “staff is kind of constantly looking for safety issues” “just by being observant, by being observant of the surroundings, the situations, the people.” [Chapin Depo., p. 97, lines 14-25, p. 98, line 1, R. p. 229, lines 14-25, R. p. 230, line 1.]

Respondent testified that Respondent had a general manager “who directed or supervised discovering [and inspecting] hazardous, dangerous and defective conditions on the premises on July 20, 2017.” [Deihl Depo., p. 37, lines 4-15, R. p. 242, lines 4-15.] The general manager would have directed “premises safety, inspecting for hazards, discovering hazards, preventing hazards, correcting hazards, [and] warning about hazards.” [Deihl Depo., p. 37, lines 20-25, p. 38, lines 1-3, R. p. 242, lines 20-25, R. p. 243, lines 1-3.] Respondent had a “duty” to “keep the premises in first class condition in accordance with the highest standards of operation of similar businesses.” [Deihl, Depo., p. 45, lines 19-25, p. 46, lines 1-6, R. p. 244, lines 19-25, R. p. 245, lines 1-6.] Mr. Deihl explained “at Tabbuli our employees go through training at orientation where we describe and show them how to watch out for things that would potentially be dangerous as far as their safety is concerned as an employee or as a guest.” [Deihl Depo., p. 50, lines 17-25, p. 51, line 1, R. p. 246, lines 17-25, R. p. 246, line 1.] Mr. Deihl testified:

Q. What does Tall Sam I Am, LLC do to inspect, discover, correct, remedy, remove, and warn about any hazardous, dangerous or defective conditions at its premises in general, and on the date of the incident that we are here about today?

A. Sure. So our general manager, all of our employees have a responsibility to look out for hazards. Our general manager would be tasked with probably more responsibility than a server or a dishwasher. But they do constant circles through the restaurant. They open up the restaurant. They get it ready for service. They close the restaurant throughout the day if they observe something that they would deem potentially hazardous, then they would address it and call for help to remedy or address it.

[Deihl Depo. p. 58, lines 18-25, p.59, lines 1-10, R. p. 248, lines 18-25, R. p. 248, lines 1-10.] “Of course it is our job to make sure our premises is safe for our guests coming into our restaurants, of course it is” added Mr. Deihl. [Deihl Depo., p. 66, lines 18-21, R. p. 250, lines 18-21.]

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