RECEIVED

Nov 05 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000754
Civil Action No. 2020-CP-2481

RECEIVED

Feb 02 2023

SC Court of Appeals

Stefani Eddins, Appellant,

v.

Tall Sam I Am, LLC d/b/a Tabbuli, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SWEENEY WINGATE & BARROW, P.A.

Mark S. Barrow
Brandon R. Gottschall
Daniel Q. Atkinson
1515 Lady Street
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 256-2233

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court granted Tall Sam I Am summary judgment as to Appellant’s claims for negligence. “In a negligence action, a plaintiff must show that (1) the defendant owes a duty of care to the plaintiff, (2) the defendant breached the duty by a negligent act or omission, (3) the defendant’s breach was the actual and proximate cause of the plaintiff’s injury, and (4) the plaintiff suffered an injury or damages.” See Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Ctr., Inc., 371

S.C. 123, 135, 638 S.E.2d 650, 656 (2006). Likewise, “[t]o establish negligence in a premises liability action, a plaintiff must prove the following three elements: (1) a duty of care owed by defendant to plaintiff; (2) defendant’s breach of that duty by a negligent act or omission; and (3) damage proximately resulting from the breach of duty.” Roe v. Bibby, 410 S.C. 287, 296, 763 S.E.2d 645, 650 (Ct. App. 2014).

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED RESPONDENT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE NO SPOILIATION OCCURRED.

Appellant’s spoliation argument is without any merit. Specifically, in South Carolina, a spoliation charge is only appropriate “when evidence is lost or destroyed by a party...”. Pringle v. SLR, Inc. of Summerton, 382 S.C. 397, 405, 675 S.E.2d 783, 787 (Ct. App. 2009). However, “[a]s an initial matter... the party seeking the inference ‘must be prepared to make a showing that the document or evidence might reasonably have supported whatever presumption is being requested of the fact finder.’” Id. Where the evidence in question would not have provided any additional information indicating negligence, such a charge is not appropriate. See id.

Here, not only did Respondent not lose or destroy evidence, but moreover, Appellant has made no showing that any allegedly lost or destroyed evidence might reasonably have supported a finding of negligence by Respondent.

Regarding the first issue, Respondent’s camera system was a Lorex video system. Six cameras were working on the date of the incident. (R.p. 253 (Diehl Dep. 78:16–23)). The Lorex system was on a 14-day loop, which meant that every 14 days new footage overrides the prior footage. (R.p. 253 (id.)). It is undisputed that Appellant did not file this lawsuit until June 5, 2020, nearly three years after the alleged incident occurred on July 20, 2017. (R.p. 16 (Complaint p. 1)). Thus, while Appellant now argues that this case is a “notice” case for which some other video footage might have been relevant, Appellant had filed no such case within 14 days after

the accident, nor had Appellant submitted any evidence preservation letter or similar notice of a potential suit.

Despite the fact that the video was automatically overwritten years before Appellant filed a Complaint, the restaurant's staff did review the video for any footage of the incident, which footage was saved and produced to Appellant. Specifically, in deposition testimony, Jeff Diehl confirmed that Respondent's IT Manager, Ms. Christina Tsang, pulled all video of the relevant incident. (R.p. 263 (Diehl Dep. 118:1–14)). That video was produced.

In short, not only did Respondent not destroy or lose evidence in the case, but even in the absence of a lawsuit, it actually went above and beyond to pull the portion of the video footage showing the light fall. Respondent took this action prior to the 14-day automatic video override, and that video footage has been produced to Appellant. By the time Appellant filed this lawsuit nearly three years later, the video system no longer stored footage from the night of the incident. Nonetheless, Respondent still produced the portion of the video it had pulled, which reflected all video of the incident. (See R.p. 263 (Diehl Dep. 118:1–14)). As a result, Appellant cannot establish the first element of spoliation: a showing that Respondent destroyed or lost evidence.

Moreover, Appellant has failed to make a showing that any other video might “reasonably have supported whatever presumption is being requested of the fact finder.” Pringle v. SLR, Inc. of Summerton, 382 S.C. 397, 405, 675 S.E.2d 783, 787 (Ct. App. 2009). Specifically, Appellant appears to argue that the video footage might have shown:

1. Who came in the restaurant;
2. What they brought with them into the restaurant;
3. The light being set upside down on the speaker;
4. The light not being properly installed with a bracket, bolt and safety chain;

5. Respondent setting up seating under the light.

(Appellant’s Initial Brief at 27).

Appellant’s arguments, though, are without any support. Regarding the first two items—who came into the restaurant and what they brought—Appellant does not in any way show how a video of these elements would impact the issues at hand. As to who came into the restaurant, Respondent’s 30(b)(6) witness already identified the DJ who installed the light. (See R.p. 268 (Diehl Dep. 139:20–140:1)). As to the issue of what items were “brought into the restaurant,” Appellant does not even attempt to explain how this relates to any element of his claim. Regarding the final three items, Appellant has identified no footage that ever existed of the light being set up or installed or of Respondent setting up seating. It is undisputed that the actual footage retained did not show the light prior to the fall, only the light as it was falling. (See, e.g., R.p. 178 (Rivenbark Dep. 41:23–42:4) (confirming that “you can’t see where [the] light is before it falls” and that it’s “out of the frame of the video”)). Moreover, as to all of these issues, Respondent could not have lost or destroyed any evidence supporting Appellant’s case because Appellant’s case did not exist until nearly three years after the footage had been automatically overwritten.

II. BECAUSE APPELLANT FAILED TO ESTABLISH A DUTY OWED BY RESPONDENT IN RELATION TO THE UNDERLYING INCIDENT, THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO RESPONDENT.

“It has long been the law in South Carolina that a merchant is not an insurer of the safety of his customer but owes them only the duty of exercising ordinary care to keep the premises in reasonably safe condition.” Pennington v. Zayre Corp., 252 S.C. 176, 178, 165 S.E.2d 695, 696 (1969); see also Anderson v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc., 257 S.C. 75, 77, 184 S.E.2d 77, 77 (1971); Hunter v. Dixie Home Stores, 232 S.C. 139, 143, 101 S.E.2d 262, 264 (1957);

Wintersteen v. Food Lion, Inc., 336 S.C. 132, 135-136, 516 S.E.2d 828, 829 (1999); Cook v. Food Lion, Inc., 328 S.C. 324, 327, 491 S.E.2d 690, 691 (Ct. App. 1997). Accordingly, South Carolina law requires proof of a dangerous or defective condition as a prerequisite for the imposition of premises liability upon a business owner. *E.g.*, Shain v. Leiserv, Inc., 328 S.C. 574, 576, 493 S.E.2d 111, 112 (Ct. App. 1997); Scott v. Cedar Fair Entm't Co., No. Civ. A 0:11-00910, 2012 WL 5306222, at *6 (D.S.C. Oct. 26, 2012). Beyond establishing the existence of a dangerous or defective condition, a plaintiff must show: (1) that the dangerous or defective condition was created by the business owner, or (2) that the business owner had actual or constructive notice of the dangerous or defective condition and failed to remove it. Wintersteen v. Food Lion, Inc., 336 S.C. 132, 136, 518 S.E.2d 828, 829–30 (Ct. App. 1999), aff'd, 344 S.C. 32, 542 S.E.2d 728 (2001) (citing Pennington, 252 S.C. at 178, 165 S.E.2d at 696).

As is discussed in Section III below, Appellant cannot establish a dangerous or defective condition, that the Respondent created such a condition, or that Respondent had actual or constructive notice of such a condition. Appellant attempts to circumvent this failure by inventing some higher standard on Respondent. However, Appellant's efforts were properly rejected by the Circuit Court because Appellant (1) presented unreliable expert testimony as to industry standards relating to lighting and seating in restaurants in her attempt to show Respondent created or had notice of a dangerous condition, and (2) impermissibly attempted to impose, via expert testimony, an absolute duty on Respondent to keep its patrons safe.

A. Testimony of Appellant's experts as to duty was unreliable and thus inadmissible to support Appellant's opposition to summary judgment.

“The rule governing summary judgment provides that supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated

therein.” Dawkins v. Fields, 354 S.C. 58, 64, 580 S.E.2d 433, 436 (2003) (citations and emphasis removed). Rule 702, SCRE provides: “[i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” Elaborating on this general Rule, the South Carolina Supreme Court has held that “[t]he trial court must make three key preliminary findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony.” Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 446-47, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). First, the trial court must determine whether “the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury.” Id. Second, “while the expert need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field, the trial court must find that the proffered expert has indeed acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter.” Id. Third, “the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable.” Id. Notably, “[e]xpert testimony is not admissible unless it satisfies all three requirements with respect to subject matter, expert qualifications, and reliability.” Id.

As explained above (see supra pages 4–9), Appellant retained two expert witnesses: forensic architect Mark Williams and restaurant owner/consultant James Rivenbark. Mr. Williams’ testimony focused on the installation of the light, but his testimony proved to be markedly unreliable. Mr. Williams asserted that the industry standard for installing the subject light was to use a bracket and safety chain and to barrier the light from any patrons in case it fell. Despite these assertions, Mr. Williams admitted at his deposition that he did not know the manufacturer of the subject light, did not know for certain whether it came with a safety chain,

did not know what means would have been included with it for attaching it to a base, did not know what installation or usage instructions were included with the light, did not know the weight of the light, and did not know what kind of lightbulb it contained. (R.p. 144 (Williams Dep. 39:13–40:10); R.p. 144 (id. at 41:13–20); R.p. 144–45 (id. at 41:21–42:22); R.p. 146 (id. at 48:18–24); R.p. 147 (id. at 52:18–21)). Further, Mr. Williams admitted that he was unsure of the industry standard regarding usage of stage lights by DJs (R.p. 153 (Williams Dep. 75:20–23)), had no knowledge of how several of his cited sources pertain to the industry standard for temporary restaurant lighting in Charleston (e.g., R.p. 160 (id. at 103:14–19)), and could not vouch for the scholarly nature of at least one of his cited sources (R.p. 160 (id. at 105:1–14)).

Additionally, despite Mr. Williams’ reliance on various building, fire, and electrical code sections in his file materials and deposition, Mr. Williams was unable to say what code sections applicable and binding in Charleston, South Carolina the Respondent had violated; whether the code versions he cited were the most recently adopted versions; or indeed whether Charleston County had adopted one cited body of code at all. (R.p. 150 (Williams Dep. 64:1–3); R.p. 158 (id. at 96:24–97:1); R.p. 153 (id. at 75:24–76:3) (“Q: Do you know if Charleston County has adopted the 2015 IPMC [International Property Maintenance Code]? A: I don’t know, but I doubt it.”)). He further admitted that it would be “preposterous” to get a code inspector to review the light in question. (R.p. 154 (Williams Dep. 80:22–81:6)). When asked near the end of his deposition whether he had ever previously been retained in a case dealing with how a light fixture was secured, Mr. Williams indicated he did not remember. (R.p. 164 (Williams Dep. 119:10–13)).

Given his lack of any reliable bases for his opinions regarding the industry standard for installation of the subject light, Mr. Williams’ testimony that Respondent had a duty to secure

the light with a bracket and redundant safety chain and to barrier the light from patrons in case it fell is far from reliable. As such, Mr. William's testimony is inadmissible to support Appellant's burden to establish the Respondent's duty of care in the present case.

Plaintiff's second retained expert witness, Mr. James Rivenbark, owns several restaurants and runs a restaurant operation consulting business (R.p. 172 (Rivenbark Dep. 14: 3–12)). Mr. Rivenbark testified that Respondent had a duty not to seat Appellant beneath temporary lighting and that the light should have been discovered to be dangerous and taken down by Respondent's staff before the incident occurred. Prior to this case, Mr. Rivenbark had never consulted in litigation or testified as a retained expert. (R.p. 195 (Rivenbark Dep. 108:18–20)). He has no background in engineering, lighting design, installation, or maintenance, and he admitted that he knows "very little" about stage lighting. (R.p. 182 (Rivenbark Dep. 56:2–6); R.p. 182 (*id.* at 55:15–17)). Mr. Rivenbark testified that in his capacity as a restaurant owner and manager, he has hired musical acts and DJs to play for events, and that he was unable to recall a single instance on which he had requested such a contractor to install their lighting in a different way. (R.p. 182 (Rivenbark Dep. 56:14–19)). Moreover, Mr. Rivenbark testified that he has never heard of anyone in the restaurant industry removing a DJ's equipment because it was unsafe. (R.p. 201 (Rivenbark Dep. 133:3–7)). Mr. Rivenbark further admitted that the procedure he would follow to render the premises in his restaurants safe in a situation like this would be to keep a lookout for obvious hazards in equipment set up by independent contractors, discuss that situation with the contractor in question, and expect them to remedy the situation—not his restaurant personnel. (R.p. 182 (Rivenbark Dep. 54:13–55:2); see also R.p. 185 (*id.* at 67:1 "No, I'm not going to touch their stuff.")). Mr. Rivenbark concurred that he had no knowledge of how the light was secured prior to falling. (R.p. 185 (Rivenbark Dep. 69:13)). Finally, Mr. Rivenbark

was unable to point to any alleged actions of Defendant or its personnel that violated an industry standard, regulation, or code related to the placement of the light. (R.p. 202 (Rivenbark Dep. 136:8–19)).

Given his lack of litigation expert experience and especially his lack of background in and knowledge of stage lighting design and installation, Mr. Rivenbark was not qualified to provide testimony as to the standard of care relating to the placement and installation of the light in this case. As a result, his testimony as to the duty of care was not reliable, as further demonstrated by its substance, and it is therefore not admissible to support Appellant’s burden to establish the Respondent’s duty of care with regard to the subject light.

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